No. S279622

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

HECTOR CASTELLANOS, ET AL., Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ET AL., Defendants and Appellants,

PROTECT APP-BASED DRIVERS AND SERVICES, ET AL., Interveners and Appellants.

First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A163655 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. RG21088725 The Honorable Frank Roesch, Judge

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

### INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal's opinion below resolves a facial challenge to Proposition 22, an initiative statute that prescribes a test—applicable only to app-based drivers—to determine whether they are employees or independent contractors. Proposition 22, in addition, sets out an alternative compensatory and regulatory scheme for drivers who are not employees. The court held that the voters' exercise of its constitutional initiative power on this subject matter does not violate article XIV, section 4 of the California Constitution, which states that the Legislature has "plenary" authority to enact a complete system of workers' compensation.

That ruling presents no conflict of decision or unsettled important question of law warranting this Court's further review. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) Applying this Court's analysis in *Independent Energy Producers Association v. McPherson* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1020, 1032, the Court of Appeal correctly determined that the Legislature's plenary authority to legislate in the realm of workers' compensation is not exclusive of the voters' power to make law in this same space. While the petition contends that Proposition 22 permanently strips the Legislature of its ability to change the benefits and protections available to app-based drivers going forward, in fact, the opinion below expressly disclaims any attempt to delineate the limits of the power of the Legislature to amend Proposition 22 by future statute.

The petition for review should be denied.

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

#### BACKGROUND

In 2019, the Legislature enacted Assembly Bill 5 (AB 5) to curb the misclassification of employees as independent contractors. (Assem. Bill. No. 5 (2019-2020 Reg. Sess.) § 1.) The law was designed to "ensure workers who are currently exploited by being misclassified as independent contractors instead of recognized as employees have the basic rights and protections they deserve under the law, including a minimum wage, workers' compensation if they are injured on the job, unemployment insurance, paid sick leave, and paid family leave." (Id., subd. (e).) AB 5 codified a generally applicable, three-part test—the "ABC test"-for determining employee status for purposes of the Labor Code, Unemployment Insurance Code, and Wage Orders of the Industrial Welfare Commission, and made the test applicable to most workers (with specified exceptions). (Lab. Code, § 2775, subd. (b)(2), (3).) Under the ABC test, a worker is classified as an employee, rather than as an independent contractor, unless the hiring entity establishes that the worker:

 $(A) \ldots$  is free from the control and direction of the hiring entity in connection with the performance of the work, both under the contract for the performance of the work and in fact.

(B) . . . performs work that is outside the usual course of the hiring entity's business.

(C) . . . is customarily engaged in an independently established trade, occupation, or business of the same nature as that involved in the work performed.

(Lab. Code, § 2775, subd. (b)(1)(A)-(C).) All three conditions must be met in order for a worker to be classified as an independent contractor.

In response, certain individuals and an organization named Protect App-Based Drivers and Services—intervenors in this matter—proposed a ballot initiative to remove app-based transportation and delivery drivers from the operation of AB 5. After a campaign supported by companies such as Uber Technologies, Inc., Lyft, Inc., and DoorDash, Inc., the voters approved Proposition 22, the "Protect App-Based Drivers and Services Act" (Proposition 22 (Nov. 2020), adding Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 7448-7467).<sup>1</sup> The stated purpose of Proposition 22 included "protect[ing] [app-based drivers'] freedom to work independently, while also providing these workers new benefits and protections not available under current law." (§ 7449, subd. (f).)

Proposition 22 provides that an app-based driver is an independent contractor with respect to work for a "network company," provided the company does not control the driver in certain specified ways. Specifically:

(a) The network company does not unilaterally prescribe specific dates, times of day, or a minimum number of hours during which the app-based driver must be logged into the network company's onlineenabled application or platform.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All statutory references are to the Business and Professions Code unless otherwise noted.

(b) The network company does not require the appbased driver to accept any specific rideshare service or delivery service request as a condition of maintaining access to the network company's online-enabled application or platform.

(c) The network company does not restrict the appbased driver from performing rideshare services or delivery services through other network companies except during engaged time.

(d) The network company does not restrict the appbased driver from working in any other lawful occupation or business.

(§ 7451, subds. (a)-(d).) Network companies must meet all conditions in order to classify app-based drivers as independent contractors.

In addition, Proposition 22 established certain minimum compensation requirements and other "benefits and protections" for app-based drivers. (See § 7449, subd. (f).) These "include a healthcare subsidy consistent with the average contributions required under the Affordable Care Act (ACA); a new minimum earnings guarantee tied to 120 percent of minimum wage with no maximum; compensation for vehicle expenses; occupational accident insurance to cover on-the-job injuries; and protection against discrimination and sexual harassment." (*Ibid.*; see §§ 7453-7462; Opn. 4-5.)

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Proposition 22 was challenged by plaintiffs and respondents, a coalition of labor unions and individuals, advancing a number of state constitutional theories. While the trial court declared

8

Proposition 22 invalid in its entirety and ordered the director of the Department of Industrial Relations not to enforce any of the initiative's provisions, the Court of Appeal largely rejected plaintiffs' claims.

In a 2-1 opinion authored by Acting Presiding Justice Brown, the court explained the flaws in plaintiffs' arguments for Proposition 22's wholesale invalidity, including their central contention that article XIV, section 4 of the California Constitution reserves to the Legislature alone the power to define employee status. That provision states in relevant part that "[t]he Legislature is hereby expressly vested with plenary power, unlimited by any provision of this Constitution, to create, and enforce a complete system of workers' compensation . . . ." As the majority explained at length, this Court construed the term "plenary power" in Independent Energy Producers Association v. *McPherson* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1020, 1032, a case involving a similarly worded provision about the Legislature's power to confer jurisdiction on the Public Utilities Commission. (Opn. 12-22, 26; Cal. Const., art. XII, § 5.) As the court observed, *"McPherson* teaches that article XIV, section 4's objective was not to give the Legislature *exclusive* authority over workers' compensation laws, but rather to give such authority to the Legislature or the voters  $\ldots$ ." (Opn. 21.)<sup>2</sup> Further, the Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The only aspects of Proposition 22 that the Court of Appeal held invalid—on separation of power grounds—were two severable provisions that purported to define for the Legislature (continued...)

Appeal was clear about the limits of its decision, stating, "We review here a facial challenge to the constitutionality of Proposition 22, and we express no view on claims that might be asserted in specific applications of the initiative." (Opn. 10.)

Justice Streeter, concurring and dissenting, disagreed with the majority's analysis of article XIV, section 4. (Conc. & dis. opn. 1.) In Justice Streeter's view, the case presented an issue left open in *McPherson*—whether a statute enacted by the voters may be challenged on the ground that it "improperly conflicts with the Legislature's exercise of *its* authority" set out in in a constitutional provision conferring on that body "plenary power" to make law in a specified area. (*McPherson, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1044, fn. 9; Conc. & dis. opn. 18.) Justice Streeter would have held that Proposition 22 conflicts with article XIV, section 4, making the initiative invalid in its entirety. (Conc. & dis. opn. 18, 24, 63-64; see Ptn. 8-9, 19-20.)

In response, the majority noted that while the Court in *McPherson* "may have wanted to leave open, as a precedential matter, the possibility that an argument could be made that an initiative statute improperly limited the Legislature's authority in some fashion[,]" the "implications of *McPherson*'s reasoning on this question"—that the Legislature's plenary lawmaking power does not limit the voters' initiative power—should not be "lightly

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

and the courts what actions would constitute amendments of Proposition 22. (Opn. 49, 52; § 7465, subd. (c)(3) & (4).)

cast aside." (Opn. 19-20.) It reasoned that there was "no justification for reaching a different interpretation than *McPherson* reached with respect to virtually identical language." (Opn. 20.)

### **REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW**

Plaintiffs now seek this Court's further review. Because there is no conflict in the law about the validity of Proposition 22 for this Court to resolve, plaintiffs contend that this Court must settle important questions of law relating to worker benefits and protections, and to the Legislature's power to advance its policy preferences in this space. (Ptn. 10; see generally *id*. 20-38; Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The State agrees, of course, that the constitutionality of an initiative statute creating an alternative regulatory scheme for California's over 1.3 million app-based drivers is, in a general sense, an important question.<sup>3</sup> And plaintiffs' policy concerns about the effects of Proposition 22 on app-based drivers may well warrant continued public discourse. But the relevant question is whether there is an important, *unsettled legal question* warranting this Court's intervention. There is not.

The Court in *McPherson* already answered the interpretive question that plaintiffs seek to relitigate: "plenary" when used in constitutional provisions describing the Legislature's power to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.C. Riverside School of Business, *An Analysis of App-Based Drivers in California* (Feb. 2022), p. 3, <a href="https://tinyurl.com/2hsbk6kj"></a> (as of May 10, 2023).

make law related to a specified subject matter does *not* mean "exclusive," thereby precluding the voters' constitutional power to legislate by initiative on that subject. (Opn. 21-22; *McPherson*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th at pp. 1035, 1040, 1042-1043.)<sup>4</sup> As the majority explained:

Rather than read article XIV, section 4 as conferring plenary, unlimited power on the Legislature and only the Legislature, *McPherson* requires that we read article XIV, section 4 as though it said, "The Legislature or the electorate acting through the initiative power are hereby expressly vested with plenary power, unlimited by any provision of this constitution, to create, and enforce a complete system of workers' compensation . . . ."

(Opn. 14, citing *McPherson*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th at pp. 1032, 1033, 1042-1043.) The voters are thus as empowered as the Legislature to enact laws addressing workers' compensation. This means that voters can enact laws that remove workers from an existing workers' compensation scheme and place those workers into an alternative scheme, just as subsequent legislative sessions have the power to change or even repeal workers' compensation policies enacted into law by previous legislative sessions.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See *McPherson*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1043 ("[L]ongstanding California decisions establish[] that references in the California Constitution to the authority of the Legislature to enact specified legislation generally are interpreted to include the people's reserved right to legislate through the initiative power.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Justice Streeter opined that neither the Legislature nor the electorate is empowered to change any of the basic features of the pre-1918 workers' compensation system. (Conc. & dis. opn. (continued...)

"Notably, even plaintiffs agree that . . . the Legislature could have excluded app-based drivers from workers' compensation coverage." (Opn. 17, fn. 8.)<sup>6</sup>

The petition further contends that this Court should step in because "Proposition 22 permanently withdraws the Legislature's *future* authority to provide these workers with the protections of the complete workers' compensation system." (Ptn. 26; see also *id.* 8, 25-26, 38.) This concern was shared by Justice Streeter. (Conc. & dis. opn. 4, 24 [asserting that Proposition 22 "permanently" withdraws the Legislature's authority to restore protections to app-based drivers].)<sup>7</sup> But the Court of Appeal did

(...continued)

<sup>6</sup> This case does not squarely implicate the Legislaturevoter "conflict" situation noted in footnote 9 of *McPherson (supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1044, fn. 9) because Proposition 22 is not a workers' compensation law. Rather, it is a worker classification law that at most only indirectly affects the Legislature's workers' compensation scheme.

<sup>7</sup> Plaintiffs' contention is at the very least an overstatement. While not required to do so, the voters included in Proposition 22 an amendment provision, which allows the Legislature to amend the law by a seven-eighths majority vote of both houses, provided any amendment is "consistent with, and furthers the purpose of," the Act. (§ 7465, subd. (a).) Notably, the purposes of the Act are quite broad, and by their terms, are (continued...)

<sup>6.)</sup> The majority rejected that view as unsupported. (Opn. 16, fn. 8.) "Nothing . . . suggests that article XIV, section 4 prevents the Legislature from changing workers' compensation in any ways it sees fit, which is unsurprising given its grant of plenary authority to create a system requiring 'any or all persons to compensate *any or* all of their workers." (Opn. 17, fn. 8, quoting Cal. Const., art. XIV, § 4.)

not purport to delineate the limits of the Legislature's power to amend Proposition 22 by future statute. (See Opn. 10 [noting that case was "a facial challenge to the constitutionality of Proposition 22" and court would not consider "possible interpretive or analytical problems' that might arise from the measure in the future[,]" citing Briggs v. Brown (2017) 3 Cal.5th 808, 827].) The court did not address, for example, the constitutionality under article XIV, section 4 of the seven-eighths majority amendment requirement as applied to a future statute enacted by the Legislature addressing workers' compensation. (§ 7465, subd. (a).) And the court had no occasion to consider whether article XIV, section 4 overrides the normal rule that the Legislature may not amend an initiative statute without voter approval. (See *People v. Superior Court (Pearson)* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 564, 568 [voter approval required unless the initiative itself permits amendment, and then only in a manner that is consistent with initiative's conditions].) Accordingly, any important questions of law concerning hypothetical future legislation are properly reserved for another day.

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

intended to be protective of app-based drivers. (See §§ 7449, 7450.) Moreover, the Legislature may amend or repeal any initiative statute by another statute, provided it is submitted to and approved by the voters. (Cal. Const., art. II, § 10, subd. (c).)

### CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the petition for review.