#### No. S279622

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

HECTOR CASTELLANOS; JOSEPH DELGADO; SAORI OKAWA; MICHAEL ROBINSON; SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION CALIFORNIA STATE COUNCIL; SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION,

Plaintiffs and Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA; KATIE HAGEN, in her official capacity as Director of the California Department of Industrial Relations,

Defendants and Respondents,

PROTECT APP-BASED DRIVERS AND SERVICES; DAVIS WHITE; KEITH YANDELL

Intervenors and Respondents.

## INTERVENORS-RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW

## I. The Petition Raises No Question of Law Not Already Answered by This Court's Precedents

The Court of Appeal broke no legal ground in upholding Proposition 22 under a long line of this Court's cases stretching before and after *McPherson*. This application of established precedent does not merit review, particularly where Petitioners have made no serious claim of a division of authority that this Court must resolve.

## A. The Court Has Made Clear That the People Share the Legislature's "Plenary" and "Unlimited" Powers

Petitioners ask this Court to address whether article XIV's language, which grants the Legislature "plenary" power "unlimited" by any other provision of the Constitution, displaces the People's power to legislate on the same topic. This Court has already answered this question with a resounding no.

McPherson concerned a constitutional provision with "analogous language" to article XIV § 4. (38 Cal.4th at p. 1036, fn. 4.) The similarity is striking:

<u>McPherson</u>: "The Legislature has plenary power, unlimited by the other provisions of this constitution but consistent with this article, to confer additional authority and jurisdiction upon the commission." (CAL. CONST., art. XII, § 5, italics added.)

Here: "The Legislature is hereby expressly vested with plenary power, unlimited by any provision of this Constitution, to create, and enforce a complete system of workers' compensation, by appropriate legislation." (CAL. CONST., art. XIV, § 4, italics added.)

This Court held in *McPherson* that the "plenary" and "unlimited" language does not "preclude the people, through their exercise of the initiative process," from exercising the same power the Constitution grants to the Legislature. (38 Cal.4th at pp. 1043–1044.) The Court of Appeal correctly recognized that this holding squarely governed the interpretation of the identical language in article XIV. (Op. at pp. 14–18.)

Petitioners protest that *McPherson* "did *not* hold that ... the words '[t]he Legislature' ... refer to the initiative power." (Pet. at pp. 29–30 & fn. 6.) But that is precisely what *McPherson* held. It explained that "long-standing California decisions establish[] that references in the California Constitution to the authority of the Legislature to enact specified legislation generally are interpreted to include the people's reserved right to legislate through the initiative power." (38 Cal.4th at p. 1043.) Under

these same "long-standing ... decisions," article XIV's reference to "the Legislature" likewise includes the initiative power.

The decisions relied on by *McPherson* include *Kennedy*Wholesale, Inc. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1991) 53 Cal.3d 245,

State Comp. Ins. Fund v. State Bd. of Equalization (1993) 14

Cal.App.4th 1295, and Carlson v. Cory (1983) 139 Cal.App.3d

724, all of which upheld initiative statutes that legislate under provisions that refer to "the Legislature." Petitioners respond that "[n]one of those cases involved constitutional provisions that expressly grant 'the Legislature' power that is unlimited by the other provisions of the Constitution." (Pet. at p. 30, fn. 6.) But McPherson held that such language does not "trump" the constitutional provisions protecting the initiative power, just as it does not exempt the Legislature from requirements to enact legislation, such as "the provision authorizing the Governor to veto a bill approved by the Legislature." (38 Cal.4th at p. 1036.)

Since McPherson, the Court has continued to apply the rule that the People possess the same legislative power as the Legislature. Petitioners fail to mention Professional Engineers in California Government v. Kempton (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1016, which reaffirmed that if "the Legislature has plenary authority, then so, too, does the electorate." (Id. at p. 1043.) Petitioners also never acknowledge Consulting Engineers & Land Surveyors of California, Inc. v. Professional Engineers in California Government (2007) 42 Cal.4th 578 (CELSOC), where this Court reiterated "that, constitutionally, the legislative power is shared by the Legislature and the electorate acting through its powers of

initiative and referendum, not exclusively exercised by the Legislature." (*Id.* at p. 587.)

"Without an unambiguous indication that a provision's purpose was to constrain the initiative power, [the Court] will not construe it to impose such limitations." (California Cannabis Coalition, 3 Cal.5th at pp. 945–946, italics added.) Petitioners do not argue there is any such unambiguous indication here—which is unsurprising given there is no "explicit reference to the initiative power in [article XIV § 4]'s text" or "ballot materials." (Id. at p. 946.) Accepting their argument would require the Court to overrule the clear statement rule it articulated six years ago in California Cannabis Coalition and applied in a "long-standing and consistent line of cases" before it. (Ibid.)

The history and purpose of article XIV offer no reason to depart from the "general[]" rule that "the Legislature" includes the People acting through the statutory initiative process. (McPherson, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1043.) Just as the word "unlimited" in article XII was meant "to eliminate any potential legal argument that other provisions of the Constitution" would limit the Public Utility Commission's rate-setting authority (id. at pp. 1039–1040), "unlimited" in article XIV had "the sole purpose of removing all doubts as to the constitutionality of the then existing workmen's compensation statutes" (Mathews, 6 Cal.3d at pp. 734–735). Nothing in this history provides any indication, let alone the necessary clear statement, that article XIV was meant to repeal the voters' initiative power over workers' compensation.

(Kennedy Wholesale, 53 Cal.3d at p. 250; see McPherson, 38 Cal.4th at pp. 1041–1043.)

In short, the Court of Appeal simply applied the well-established rule that "the electorate's lawmaking powers are identical to the Legislature's" absent a clear statement of intent to withdraw or limit the statutory initiative power. (*State Compensation Insurance Fund*, 14 Cal.App.4th at p. 1300.) The Court of Appeal's decision addresses no question of law this Court has not already resolved.

# B. *McPherson*'s Footnote Provides No Reason to Grant Review

Petitioners insist that review is necessary because *McPherson* explained in a footnote that the Court "ha[d] no occasion ... to consider whether an initiative measure relating to the PUC may be challenged on the ground that it improperly limits the PUC's authority or improperly conflicts with the Legislature's exercise of its authority to expand the PUC's jurisdiction or authority." (38 Cal.4th at p. 1044, fn. 9.) The claims that footnote hypothesized are different from the claim Petitioners assert here. In any event, *McPherson*'s reasoning still forecloses Petitioners' contention.

1. *McPherson* first clarified in footnote 9 that it was not addressing a scenario in which an initiative statute could violate the Constitution by "improperly limit[ing] the PUC's authority." (38 Cal.4th at p. 1044, fn. 9.) That possibility was top of mind in *McPherson* because the constitutional provision there, article XII, grants a baseline of authority to the PUC (CAL. CONST., art. XII,

§ 4) and gives the Legislature only the power to "confer *additional* authority and jurisdiction upon the commission" (*id.*, § 5, italics added). So, an initiative that goes below the § 4 constitutional floor might well violate article XII.

Article XIV contains no similar constitutional baseline. It gives the Legislature the "power" to enact a workers' compensation system for "any or all" workers—rather than a more limited power to provide "additional" coverage over some specified constitutional floor. (See Pet. at pp. 28–29.) This Court already has resolved that this provision leaves the Legislature "[w]ide discretion" to "exclude[] certain classes of persons from coverage under the Workmen's Compensation Act." (Mathews, 6 Cal.3d at p. 739.) The Court of Appeal has applied this settled principle in case after case. (Op. at pp. 16–17, fn. 8, 24–26 & fn. 12; see, e.g., Facundo-Guerrero, 163 Cal.App.4th at p. 650; Rio Linda Union School Dist. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 517, 532; Wal-Mart Stores v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 1435, 1442; Graczyk v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1986) 184 Cal. App. 3d 997, 1002, 1006.) Unlike article XII, article XIV is not a one-way ratchet.

The Court of Appeal dissent took issue with this principle. It argued that article XIV § 4 requires the Legislature and the People to leave in place the "basic features' of th[e workers' compensation] system" as it existed in 1918. (Dissent at pp. 8, 42.) Even if accepted, that false premise would fail to call Proposition 22's validity into question, for several reasons. To begin, one "basic feature" of the workers' compensation system is

that it has *always* been limited to employees. (See *Borello*, 48 Cal.3d at p. 349.) Furthermore, coverage of *app-based drivers* hardly could have been a "basic feature" of a 1918 system—nearly a hundred years before apps were invented. Nor does Article XIV prescribe any particular employee classification test. If it did so, the Constitution would foreclose any revisions to the classification test by anyone, contrary to prior actions of both the courts (e.g., *Borello*) and the Legislature (e.g., AB 2257).

More fundamentally, the dissent's premise is incorrect. Article XIV § 4 recognizes the Legislature's "power" to enact a workers' compensation system—it does not impose a duty to encase the 1918 system in acrylic. (CAL. CONST., art. XIV, § 4.) The 1918 voters enacted section 4 "for the sole purpose of removing all doubts as to the constitutionality of the then existing workmen's compensation statutes," not to make those statutes (much less *future* statutes like AB 5) untouchable. (Mathews, 6 Cal.3d at pp. 734–735.) Article XIV § 4 does not "impos[e] a mandate on the Legislature to create and enforce an unlimited system of workers' compensation benefits"—or any "lawmaking mandate upon the Legislature." (Facundo-Guerrero, 163 Cal.App.4th at p. 650.) Instead, article XIV § 4 simply recognizes the legislative "authority to determine the contours and content of our state's workers' compensation system, including the power to limit benefits" (ibid., italics added) and the "power to exclude certain workers" (Wal-Mart, 112 Cal.App.4th at p. 1442, italics added).

In order to adopt the dissent's approach, this Court would have to overturn numerous precedents. For example, under the dissent's theory, the Legislature could not have enacted AB 2257 or the law upheld in *Graczyk*, each of which withdrew some workers from the workers' compensation system by excluding them from the definition of "employee." (184 Cal.App.3d 997, 1005–1006 & fn. 4.) Nor could the Legislature have enacted the provision this Court upheld in *Mathews*, which withdrew a feature that article XIV § 4 labels part of a "complete" workers' compensation system—provision of benefits "irrespective of the fault of any party." (6 Cal.3d at p. 734.) The Legislature also could not have reduced available benefits below the "full provision" included in a "complete system," as it did in the laws upheld in Facundo-Guerrero, 163 Cal.App.4th at pp. 647–651, Wal-Mart, 112 Cal.App.4th at p. 1442, and Rio Linda, 131 Cal.App.4th at p. 532.

Tellingly, Petitioners do not defend the dissent's rationale that article XIV by its own force requires the inclusion of app-based drivers in the workers' compensation system. Although Petitioners repeatedly hint that Proposition 22 makes the workers' compensation system no longer "complete" (e.g., Pet. at pp. 31, 36), they are forced to concede that the Legislature's "authority is necessarily broader than that at issue in McPherson, where the Legislature's authority was limited to enlarging the jurisdiction of the PUC" (id. at pp. 28–29). In other words, the Legislature can contract the workers' compensation system. Accordingly, so can the People. And contrary to

Petitioners' claim (*id.* at pp. 26, 38), there is no reason the People need to amend the Constitution to do so. (See, e.g., *Kempton*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1042.)

2. Petitioners are also wrong that the second scenario that *McPherson* footnote 9 declined to address—where an initiative "improperly conflicts with the Legislature's exercise of its authority"—is a basis to grant review, or could possibly lead to a different result. (38 Cal.4th at p. 1044, fn. 9.) Proposition 22 reforms worker classification standards for app-based drivers, and its effect on the workers' compensation system is only a consequence of that reform. Nothing about that effect could be called "improper." (See AG Answer at p. 13, fn. 6.) As Petitioners concede, the Legislature has the power to exclude app-based drivers from the workers' compensation system. (See *ante*, p. 24.) Accordingly, so do the People.

Furthermore, to the extent there is any "conflict" here, it is one that is deliberately baked into the very structure of the Constitution—that when the People enact an initiative statute, the Legislature cannot undo the People's will without obtaining their consent. (CAL. CONST., art. II, § 10(c).) Petitioners lament that, "[a]fter Proposition 22, the Legislature is powerless to" undo the core provisions of the Proposition "without voter approval." (Pet. at p. 26.) But that is the very purpose of the Constitution's democratic structure; article II § 10(c) gives the People "the final legislative word" every time they enact an initiative statute (*Carlson*, 139 Cal.App.3d at p. 728), in that "the Legislature is powerless to act on its own to amend an initiative statute" (*People*)

v. Kelly (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1008, 1045). As this Court has recognized, "[t]he people's reserved power of initiative is greater than the power of the legislative body" in the sense that the Legislature may not upset the voters' initiatives, but the voters may overturn the Legislature. (Rossi v. Brown (1995) 9 Cal.4th 688, 715.)

To treat a structural feature of the Constitution as an "improper[] conflict" (Pet. at p. 28) would not only "cast aside" *McPherson*'s holding (Op. at p. 20), but also contradict this Court's reasoning in *Kempton*. There, as here, the challengers argued that an initiative had impermissibly taken away the Legislature's authority in a particular area. (40 Cal.4th at pp. 1046–1047.) This Court rejected that argument, explaining that the initiative did "not usurp the Legislature's plenary authority *in a global sense*" but merely repealed particular statutes. (*Id.* at p. 1047, italics added.)

Here, because the Legislature could have repealed AB 5 as to app-based drivers and enacted Proposition 22 in its place, there is no reason why that "permissible legislative decision" could not "be effected by the other constitutionally empowered legislative authority, the electorate." (*Kempton*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1047.) "Voter initiatives" are, as this Court has said, "legislative battering ram[s]" that "tear through the exasperating tangle of the traditional legislative procedure and strike directly

toward the desired end." (Tuolumne Jobs & Small Bus. Alliance v. Superior Court (2014) 59 Cal.4th 1029, 1035.)<sup>2</sup>

Such ordinary exercise of the initiative power does not present any question that *McPherson* did not already resolve. The Court of Appeal followed existing precedent, and there is no need for this Court's review.

# II. The Lower Court Decisions on the Issues Presented Are Uniform as Well

Petitioners do not identify any conflict among the lower courts on the constitutionality of Proposition 22 or the voters' ability to legislate under article XIV. They instead ask this Court to review the *first* appellate decision addressing the issue because *future* decisions *might* create a conflict. (Pet. at pp. 22–23.) The petition's order of operations flips this Court's practice of waiting until ruling is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

The prospect of a future conflict is doubtful in any event.

Petitioners have not identified a single other case that even involves the constitutionality of Proposition 22. Intervenors are

<sup>2</sup> That fundamental feature of the initiative process also disposes

have the power to legislate. (*CELSOC*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 587.) And here the Constitution tells us what happens in the event of such a policy conflict: the voters prevail. (CAL. CONST., art. II, § 10(c).)

of the dissent's novel analogy to Justice Jackson's concurrence in *Youngstown*—a theory even Petitioners do not adopt. (See Dissent at pp. 20, 24–25, 36.) *Youngstown* addressed a conflict between the federal legislative branch (Congress) and the federal executive branch (the President). Here, the conflict is between two state bodies—the Legislature and the electorate—that each

aware of only one—and that motion has not even been heard yet, and will end up before the same District Court of Appeal that upheld Proposition 22. (See *People v. DoorDash, Inc.* (S.F. Super., No. CGC-20-584789).)

Nor is there any reason to presume that, if this issue is litigated further, a conflict of authority will arise. On the contrary, as noted above, the Courts of Appeal agree about the legal principles that govern this case. Uniform lines of appellate decisions from across the state hold, in numerous contexts, that legislation may remove workers, benefits, or even features listed in article XIV from the workers' compensation system—and that the People may enact any legislation the Legislature may enact. (See *ante*, pp. 17–26.) That is unsurprising given that *McPherson* and *Mathews* together establish that the People can withdraw classes of workers under article XIV no less than the Legislature can. The petition's disagreement with settled law is no basis for review.

#### CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the petition for review.